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NOTICE TO DEFEND

You have been sued in court. If you wish to defend against the claims set forth in the following
pages, you must take action within twenty (20) days after this complaint and notice are served, by
entering a written appearance personally or by attorney and filing in writing with the court your
defenses or objections to the claims set forth against you. You are warned that if you fail to do so
the case may proceed without you and a judgment may be entered against you by the court without
further notice for any money claimed in the complaint of for any other claim or relief requested
by the plaintiff. You may lose money or property or other rights important to you.

You should take this paper to your lawyer at once. If you do not have a lawyer or cannot afford
one, go to or telephone the office set forth below to find out where you can get legal help.

Central Pennsylvania Legal Services, Public Services and Lawyers
Inc. and Referral Committee
213 North Front Street Dauphin County Bar
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17101 Association
(717) 232-0581 213 North Front Street

Harrisburg Pennsylvania 17101
(717) 232-7536

AVISO

Le han demandado a usted en la corte. Si usted quiere defenderse de estas demandas expuestas en
las paginas siguientes, usted tiene veinte (20) dias de plazo al partir de la fecha de la demanda y la
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contra suya sin previo aviso o notificacion. Ademas, la corte puede decider a favor del demandante
y requiere que usted cumpla con todas las provisiones de esta demanda. Usted puede perder dinero
0 sus propiedades u otros derechos importantes para usted.

Lleve esta demanda a un abogado immediatamente. Si no tiene abogado o si no tiene el dinero
suficiente de pagar tal servicio. Vaya en persona o llame por telefono a la oficina cuya direccion
se encuentra escrita abajo para averiguar donde se puede conseguir asistencia legal.

Central Pennsylvania Legal Services, Public Services and Lawyers
Inc. and Referral Committee
213 North Front Street Dauphin County Bar
Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17101 Association
(717) 232-0581 213 North Front Street

Harrisburg Pennsylvania 17101
(717) 232-7536
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AMENDED COMPLAINT

Michael Humphreys, Acting Insurance Commissioner of the Commonwealth
of Pennsylvania, in his capacity as the Statutory Rehabilitator of Senior Health
Insurance Company of Pennsylvania (“SHIP”), by and through his undersigned
counsel, brings the following causes of action against defendants Brian Wegner,
Paul Lorentz, Barry Staldine, and Protiviti, Inc. (“Protiviti”), and in support hereof,

respectfully avers as follows:

l. THE PARTIES

1. Michael Humphreys is the Acting Insurance Commissioner of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (the “Commissioner” or “Acting Commissioner”).
The prior Commissioner, Jessica K. Altman, was appointed as the Statutory
Rehabilitator of SHIP on January 29, 2020. Former Commissioner Altman and
Acting Commissioner Humphreys have appeared in this action in the capacity of
Statutory Rehabilitator of SHIP.

2. Acting Commissioner Humphreys was appointed Acting
Commissioner on February, 28, 2022.

3. SHIP is a Pennsylvania stock limited life insurance company that

administers a closed block of long-term care insurance policies.! SHIP is domiciled

1 SHIP is referred to as a “closed block™ because it has not sold new policies since
2003.



in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania with its principal place of business in Carmel,
Indiana.

4. Defendant Wegner is an individual residing at 12862 Tuskany
Boulevard in Carmel, Indiana 46032. Defendant Wegner served as SHIP’s President
and Chief Executive Officer from August 2013 until December 2016. While he
served as SHIP’s Chief Executive Officer, Defendant Wegner also served as one of
SHIP’s directors.

5. Defendant Lorentz is an individual residing at 214 Wellington
Parkway, Noblesville, Indiana 46060. Defendant Lorentz served as SHIP’s Chief
Financial Officer from 2008 until February 2017. While he served as SHIP’s Chief
Financial Officer, Defendant Lorentz also served as one of SHIP’s directors and as
the treasurer of Fuzion Analytics, Inc. (“Fuzion”), at the time SHIP’s sister company
and now SHIP’s wholly owned subsidiary.

6. Defendant Staldine is an individual residing at 6789 South Foster
Branch Court, Pendleton, Indiana 46064. Defendant Staldine served as a Vice
President of CNO Financial Group, Inc. (“CNO”), of which SHIP was a subsidiary,
in 2008. He later joined SHIP as a consultant in 2014, and then served as SHIP’s
Vice President of Business Management from February 2015 through October 2015.
Following his time as SHIP’s Vice President of Business Management, Mr. Staldine

served as SHIP’s Chief Operations Officer from October 2015 through March 2017.
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Ultimately, when Defendant Wegner was placed on administrative leave in October
2016, Defendant Staldine replaced Defendant Wegner as President and Chief
Executive Officer of SHIP. Defendant Staldine then served as Chief Executive
Officer from April 1, 2017 until March 2020.

7. Defendant Protiviti is a global consulting firm that provides consulting
on a range of topics including internal audit, risk and compliance. Defendant
Protiviti’s principal place of business is 2884 Sand Hill Road in Menlo Park,
California, 94025. Protiviti served as SHIP’s internal auditor from 2013 through
2016. (Attached hereto as Exhibit A is the Master Services Agreement between

Protiviti and SHIP dated May 19, 2009 (“Protiviti MSA”)).
Il.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. The Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania has jurisdiction over this
matter pursuant to 42 Pa. C.S. 8 761(a) and Sections 504 and 516 of the Pennsylvania
Insurance Department Act, 40 P.S. 88 221.4(d) and 221.16(c).

9. Venue is proper in this Court under 40 P.S. § 221.4(b) in that SHIP is a

Pennsylvania domiciled insurance company.

1. EACTS COMMON TO ALL DEFENDANTS

A. SHIP and its Business

10. SHIP and its predecessors have provided long-term care insurance

policy coverage since 1964.



11.  SHIP’s book of business consists of a closed block of defined benefit
accident and health insurance policies that provide coverage for long-term care
services.

12.  Although SHIP has assumed a number of long-term care policies
through co-insurance or reinsurance agreements, SHIP has not sold new policies
since 2003. Accordingly, only a small fraction of SHIP’s original long-term care
business remains in force.

13.  Until 2008, SHIP was a subsidiary of CNO, a financial services holding
company based in Carmel, Indiana. However, in 2008, CNO recognized that it was
enduring significant underwriting losses for SHIP policies and sought to reduce the
strain of supporting these persistent losses.

14.  Accordingly, in 2008, CNO transferred ownership of SHIP to the
Senior Healthcare Trust, which was then merged into an independent oversight trust,
the Senior Health Care Oversight Trust (“SHOT”). The trustees of SHOT serve as
SHIP’s directors and are primarily former insurance regulatory officials.

15.  CNO and its subsidiaries made approximately $915 million in capital
contributions to SHIP.

16.  Following its transfer to SHOT and despite CNO’s significant capital

contributions, SHIP continued to decline financially due to critical and, in some



cases, egregious actuarial errors in the pricing of its policies and the establishment
of its required reserves.

17.  Throughout its decline, SHIP was advised by a series of third-party
consultants that continuously provided overly optimistic, inappropriate or inaccurate
estimates, assumptions, and calculations related to SHIP’s financial health. These
consultants additionally failed to notify SHIP or Pennsylvania insurance officials of
red flags that they knew or should have known existed. SHIP relied on the purported
expertise and advice of these consultants to help make critical financial decisions in
the management of SHIP’s business. This reliance ultimately inured to SHIP’s
tremendous detriment.

18.  Milliman USA (“Milliman”) served as SHIP’s appointed actuary from
as early as 2008 until at least 2017. Despite numerous criticisms of its methodologies
in evaluating SHIP’s financial health, Milliman consistently defended its aggressive
(and unrealistic) calculations and assumptions—even where SHIP’s actual
experience did not match those assumptions. When other consulting firms attempted
to review Milliman’s work, they often did not receive complete documentation or
data to review and were left to merely rely on Milliman’s explanation of its work.

19. Eide Bailly LLP (“Eide Bailly”) served as SHIP’s independent auditor
from 2013 through 2019. On occasion, Eide Bailly engaged third-party consultants

on SHIP’s behalf to review the work performed by SHIP’s auditors, actuaries, and
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other consultants. The consultants that Eide Bailly engaged raised several concerns
with the work done by SHIP’s advisors, and with Milliman’s work in particular.
Moreover, on November 23, 2016, despite significant red flags, Eide Bailly provided
an erroneous opinion letter stating that SHIP’s ultimately ill-advised Roebling Re
transaction satisfied requirements for reinsurance and risk transfer standards set forth
by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) and applicable
Pennsylvania law, including 40 Pa. C.S. § 3-502(b) and 31 Pa. Code § 163.20(b)

20. Lewis & Ellis Inc. (“Lewis & Ellis”), an actuarial firm, provided
consulting services to Eide Bailly for SHIP’s benefit from 2011 through 2016. In
2011, and again in 2014, Eide Bailly retained Lewis & Ellis to review Milliman’s
actuarial work. In this review, Lewis & Ellis identified numerous areas of concern
suggesting that Milliman’s methodology was overly aggressive, and made it
Impossible to measure the appropriateness of future valuations—which were issues
critical to SHIP’s long-term profitability. Indeed, Lewis & Ellis determined that
SHIP’s claims reserves reflected “a consistent pattern of historical deficiencies.” In
spite of these concerns, Lewis & Ellis declined to comment on the adequacy of
Milliman’s overall approach, going so far as to defend the methodologies as
“appropriate.”

21. Axene Health Partners LLC (“Axene™) is an actuarial and consulting

firm that provided consulting services to Eide Bailly for SHIP’s benefit from 2011
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through 2017. Axene conducted an actuarial review of SHIP’s long-term care
reserves on behalf of Eide Bailly and issued a draft report in April 2017. Again,
despite concerns identified with Milliman’s methodologies, Axene defended
Milliman’s work as “appropriate.”

22.  Given the information known by and available to it, Eide Bailly could
not have relied reasonably on the findings and opinions of Milliman, Lewis & Ellis,
Axene or other consultants and advisors to reach a conclusion that SHIP was in
sound financial condition or that its financial statements were free from material
misstatement or fairly presented SHIP’s financial condition in accordance with
accounting principles prescribed or permitted by Pennsylvania insurance law and
regulators.

23. By 2018, when SHIP’s management finally acknowledged that claims
costs would substantially exceed available assets and revenues, SHIP’s reserves
were too deficient and its long-term care insurance policies as a group too severely
underpriced. These actuarial problems were compounded by SHIP’s ill-advised
investments in Beechwood Re Ltd. (“Beechwood Re”) and Roebling Re Ltd.
(“Roebling Re”), as further discussed infra. As of the present date and going
forward, it is clear that SHIP will not have enough money to pay for all the benefits
expected to be owed to its remaining policyholders under its policies before

modification pursuant to the Approved Rehabilitation Plan.
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B.  SHIP and Fuzion Analytics

24.  Fuzion Analytics, Inc. (“Fuzion”) is a Delaware corporation formed in
2012 as a wholly owned subsidiary of SHOT, ostensibly to provide administrative
and management services to SHIP and other long-term care insurance companies.
Fuzion is located in Carmel, Indiana.

25. Pursuant to a 2012 Management Agreement and Asset Purchase
Agreement, SHIP conveyed essentially all of its employees and infrastructure to
Fuzion in exchange for agreed-upon cash consideration.

26. As part of that transaction, Fuzion assumed responsibility for the
administration of SHIP’s long-term care policies. Since 2012, SHIP has had no
facilities or employees as it relies exclusively on Fuzion and other vendors for its
operations.

27. On August 20, 2019, SHOT transferred all of its interest in Fuzion to
SHIP as a capital contribution. Accordingly, Fuzion is now a wholly owned
subsidiary of SHIP.

C. Overview of SHIP’s Financial Deterioration

28.  SHIP began experiencing a material increase in financial difficulties in
2015.
29. There is no single cause of SHIP’s financial problems. Instead, SHIP’s

financial deterioration is the result of diminished assets caused by poor management,
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Imprudent investment decisions, and insufficient premiums and premium rate
increases, coupled with increased liabilities caused by demographic and market

changes that led to higher than planned benefits costs.

IV. EACTS COMMON TO DEFENDANTS WEGNER, LORENTZ AND
STALDINE

30. In an effort to evade oversight by the Pennsylvania Insurance
Department (“PID”) and personal culpability for SHIP’s poor financial performance,
Defendants Wegner, Lorentz and Staldine either explicitly created, introduced
and/or approved, or completely abdicated their responsibility to stop, a series of ill-
advised, risky and ultimately disastrous decisions and/or investments. The acts and
omissions described began after November 12, 2008 and accrued to the detriment of
SHIP and its policyholders.

31. Specifically, Defendants Wegner, Lorentz and Staldine were aware of
the underpricing of SHIP’s policy premiums due to the underestimation of future
policy liabilities. In particular, these Defendants knew or should have known that
SHIP’s actuarial projections were based on faulty assumptions that, for example,
understated morbidity, overstated morbidity improvement, overstated mortality, and
overstated policy lapse and termination rates.

32.  Defendants Wegner (as CEO), Lorentz (as CFO) and Staldine (as COO
and then CEQ) operated in concert to oversee and maintain an interactive process

with the appointed actuary, Milliman, that resulted in the faulty actuarial
9



assumptions. Those faulty assumptions resulted in erroneous actuarial reports,
memoranda, and opinions that led to gross understatements of SHIP’s future
liabilities. These gross understatements appeared in SHIP’s official Annual
Statements at least for the years 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018, and 2019.

33. Those gross understatements of SHIP’s future liabilities led to an
overstatement of SHIP’s financial strength by creating the appearance of surpluses
that did not exist, at least for the years 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018.

34. Defendants Wegner, Lorentz and Staldine operated in concert to
oversee and maintain a management enterprise that overstated SHIP’s projected
investment income and failed to acknowledge and properly account for lower-than-
anticipated yields and other poor investment results.

35. Defendants Wegner, Lorentz and Staldine operated in concert to
oversee and maintain a management enterprise that initiated, designed, contributed
to, oversaw, maintained and/or failed to report to the PID the grossly understated
future liabilities and the grossly overstated projected investment income. The
concerted activity was ongoing and deliberate and sought to evade discovery,
scrutiny, oversight and/or intervention by the PID.

36. The company management enterprise which injured SHIP included, but

was not limited to:

10



b)

9)

h)

Oversight and maintenance of the interactive process with the
appointed actuary, Milliman, that resulted in grossly understating
future liabilities of SHIP;

Working with investment advisors to conceive of and implement
the Beechwood transaction which cost SHIP millions of dollars
in losses;

Working with investment advisors to conceive of and implement
the Roebling Re transaction which resulted in misrepresenting
SHIP’s financial condition and cost SHIP millions of dollars in
losses;

Intentionally designing the Roebling Re transaction so that it
would not require PID approval,

Seeking to convert SHIP to a property and casualty company to
avoid PID intervention;

Seeking to re-domesticate SHIP to a different state to avoid PID
intervention;

Failing to alert the Trustees and PID of Defendant Wegner’s self-
dealing and un-waivable financial conflicts that directly injured
SHIP; and

Failing to alert the Trustees and PID of Defendant Wegner’s
inexcusable personal failures that directly injured SHIP.

37. The company management enterprise operated and maintained by

Defendants Wegner, Lorentz and Staldine was in place at least from 2014, and

remnants of that management enterprise continued to impact SHIP and SHIP’s

business operations until SHIP was placed in rehabilitation in January 2020.

38.  On January 29, 2020, the Commonwealth Court entered the Order of

Rehabilitation for SHIP naming former Commissioner Jessica Altman and her
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successors as Rehabilitator of SHIP, empowering the Rehabilitator to manage the
affairs of SHIP without any interference from its senior management.

39.  Prior to the entry of the Order of Rehabilitation, former Commissioner
Altman lacked the type of extensive authority granted to a statutory rehabilitator or
liquidator under Pennsylvania law. SHIP’s directors and officers retained their
authority because no court had granted former Commissioner Altman the powers
she would need if she wished to wrest control from the existing management
enterprise that had been in control since 2014.

40. In contrast, the Order of Rehabilitation provided former Commissioner
Altman and her successors—i.e., SHIP’s Rehabilitator—with, inter alia, the
authority to “take such action as [the Rehabilitator] deems necessary or expedient to
correct the condition or conditions which constituted the grounds” for rehabilitation,
“the powers of the directors, officers and managers, whose authority shall be
suspended, except as they are redelegated by the rehabilitator,” and the ability to
“pursue all appropriate legal remedies on behalf of the insurer.” 40 P.S. § 221.23
(powers of rehabilitator).

41. Putdifferently, it was only upon entry of the Order of Rehabilitation on
January 29, 2020 that the Rehabilitator, the Rehabilitator’s appointees, and the

Rehabilitator’s advisors were able to recognize fully and begin to dismantle the

12



Injurious management enterprise operated, maintained, continued, and protected at

various points in time by Defendants Wegner, Lorentz and Staldine.

V. DEFENDANTS WEGNER’S AND LORENTZ’S POOR
MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT OF SHIP’S INVESTMENTS
CAUSE HARM TO SHIP

42. Defendants Wegner and Lorentz approved or allowed SHIP to make
poor investment transactions with insufficient due diligence, oversight, or protection
against loss to SHIP.

A. The Beechwood Re Transactions

43. In February 2014, Fuzion and an entity known as Beechwood Re
entered into an agreement under which Fuzion would provide third-party
administration and management services to Beechwood Re.

44, Beechwood Re was a group of reinsurance and asset management
companies formed by the principals of the now defunct hedge fund Platinum
Partners (“Platinum”).

45.  Beginning in May 2014 and concluding in March 2015, SHIP also
entered into a series of investments with Beechwood and its related entities. In that
time, SHIP invested $320 million of its reserves in Beechwood Re. These
investments were funded by SHIP with assets it was required to hold for benefits
that would be owed to policyholders. In exchange for SHIP’s $320 million
investment, an affiliate of Beechwood Re guaranteed an annual return of 5.85% over

a period of five years, which at the time substantially exceeded market returns for
13



investments suitable for SHIP. Moreover, the guarantees were provided by an entity
that basic due diligence would have revealed could not satisfy the guarantees.

46. Beechwood Re’s ratings and valuations were suspect prior to SHIP’s
investment, information Defendants should have discovered in the exercise of their
duties, or did discover and overlooked deliberately.

47.  Although SHIP’s Board approved and ratified SHIP’s investments on a
quarterly basis, it did so based on incomplete or faulty information because SHIP’s
management, and specifically, Defendants Wegner and Lorentz, conducted little to
no due diligence of Beechwood Re or its investment strategy prior to making these
investments, or deliberately ignored indications that the information on which they
were relying was unreliable.

48. Beechwood Re described the investments they were making with
SHIP’s $320 million as high-quality and high-yield investments. Beechwood Re also
stated that it was investing SHIP’s money conservatively and that the investments
were more than sufficiently collateralized.

49. When SHIP entered into these investments, Defendant \Wegner

represented to the PID that SHIP’s assets would be held in a custody account
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compliant with Pennsylvania investment statutes and regulations, and with relevant
NAIC requirements, including NAIC valuation standards.>

50. SHIP’s Board believed it was entering into an agreement in which
Beechwood Re was investing the $320 million in senior secured loans that were
rated NAIC 1 and 2. However, the ratings of the Beechwood investments were
suspect because they were based on incorrect information Beechwood Re itself
provided to the ratings agencies, something Defendants would have discovered with
appropriate due diligence. Further, Beechwood Re provided valuations that were not
truly independent, but rather were concocted by an entity that worked closely with
Beechwood Re to ensure they were consistent with Beechwood Re’s expectations
and needs.

51. In October 2014, Michael Rhoads, a certified public accountant and a
financial auditor for Fuzion, reviewed the custodial agreements governing SHIP’s
Beechwood Re investments and determined they were not compliant with the 2014
NAIC Financial Condition Examiners Handbook guidance, applicable under
Pennsylvania law. See 31 Pa. Code 88 148a.1-148a.4. In particular, he noted the

following deficiencies:

2 NAIC valuation standards are industry-standard investment credit categorized in
risk tiers ranging from 1 to 6, with 1 being the least risky.
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a) The Custodian failed to identify SHIP as the owner of the
Beechwood Re investments in the Custodial Agreements or in
any other document governing SHIP’s investment;

b)  SHIP could not withdraw funds on demand from the Custodian;
further, SHIP was locked into the investments for a specified
period of time without the option for any flexibility; and

c)  The Custodial Agreements did not describe the Custodian’s
responsibility to indemnify SHIP for any loss of securities due to
negligence or dishonesty by the Custodian.

52.  Then, after failing to properly investigate, analyze, and understand the
Beechwood Re transaction, Defendants Wegner and Lorentz led SHIP to enter into
Investment Management Agreements (“IMAS”) and to execute other documents
governing the Beechwood Re transactions, all of which failed to protect SHIP’s
Investments.

53.  SHIP’s investments in Beechwood Re were formalized by IMAs with
BAM Administrative Services (“BAM?”), a non-registered investment advisor that
was a subsidiary of Beechwood Re. Between 2014 and 2015, SHIP’s management
implemented three IMAs with Beechwood Re subsidiaries that were predicated on
the apparently precarious financial condition of the parent.

54. Through the IMAs, SHIP forfeited its rights to the collateral
purportedly securing the return promised by Beechwood Re, and, compounding the

harm arising from that decision, there was little to no evidence of any oversight of
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the Beechwood Investment program by SHIP’s management or board of directors
under the IMAs.
55. SHIP’s board and/or management were required to establish and
implement internal controls around its investment program to assure compliance
with investment policy, but SHIP’s management never did so with respect to
Beechwood Re.

56. The IMAs were structured such that SHIP had no oversight or ability
to exercise its rights with regard to any of the Beechwood Re investments; rather,
those rights were effectively turned over to BAM. They also allowed Beechwood Re
to use leverage in the account at its discretion, thus putting Beechwood’s interests
ahead of those of SHIP, to the detriment of SHIP and its policyholders and creditors.

57.  Further, under the IMAs, the false valuations also triggered $33.5
million in performance-based bonus payments from SHIP to Beechwood Re. The
IMAs did not require Beechwood Re to report the performance fee, in direct
violation of Pennsylvania Insurance Code 40 P.S. § 504.1(c), which mandated that
SHIP review the IMAs for such items as calculation of fees and review of
performance.

58. Moreover, the IMAs gave Beechwood ultimate control of the
investment valuations as Section 7 of the IMA stated that “any valuation of the

Assets...shall be made by or at the direction of the Advisor (Beechwood Re),”
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incentivizing Beechwood Re to manipulate pricing to increase its (wrongfully
unreported) performance fee. SHIP’s management, and in particular, Defendants
Wegner and Lorentz, were responsible for overseeing this valuation and reporting it
to the Board of Directors or a delegated committee.

59. In January 2015, Defendant Wegner informed the PID that SHIP
wanted to enter into revised IMAs with Beechwood Re, representing to the PID that
the revised IMAs would be subject to SHIP’s statement of investment policy and
guidelines. Ultimately SHIP and Beechwood Re decided to keep their original IMAs
In place but agreed to enter into a new Custody Agreement with Wilmington Trust
on February 3, 2015.

60. In February 2015, Protiviti provided SHIP’s senior management with a
report that identified potential problems with the IMAs that supported SHIP’s
Beechwood Re investments. Protiviti noted that it was unable to obtain from SHIP
management any standard due diligence regarding Beechwood Re. Accordingly,
Protiviti was unable to qualitatively assess the credit default risk borne by SHIP.
This Protiviti report was apparently commissioned outside of established protocols
and not delivered to appropriate committees or individuals at SHIP until a SHOT
executive session in November 2016. (Attached as Exhibit B hereto is a Statement
of Work under the Protiviti MSA dated January 5, 2015; see also Ex. A, Protiviti

MSA.)
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61. Overall, the Beechwood Re investments were highly speculative and
opaque, and riddled with related-party transactions creating risks for SHIP—risks
which later became unavoidably apparent, even for Defendants despite their efforts
to actively turn a blind-eye to the Beechwood Re problems.

62. In June 2016, a Platinum co-founder was arrested on bribery charges
and its offices were raided under suspicion of running a Ponzi scheme, including
through the use of SHIP’s $320 million investment.

63. Following this discovery, also in September 2016, SHOT held an
executive session at which they acknowledged that SHIP’s $320 million investment
with Beechwood Re was in jeopardy.

64. At that SHOT executive session, SHIP retained Protiviti to audit the
Beechwood Re investments. (Attached as Exhibit C hereto is a Statement of Work
under the Protiviti MSA dated September 22, 2016; see also Ex. A, Protiviti MSA.)

65. At the same time, SHOT also hired an outside consultant to evaluate
the IMAs and investments made under them on SHIP’s behalf. This consultant
concluded that SHIP’s representation that the Beechwood Re investments were all
high-quality assets with secure collateral positions was questionable.

66. Additionally, the alleged positive NAIC ratings of the Beechwood Re
investments were dubious given the conflicts of interest, the control position of

Beechwood Re, and the time limitation on the length the rating remained intact.
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Analysis confirmed that Beechwood Re held a negative capital position and did not

conform to accounting standards.

67.

This investigation and analysis confirmed that there was to be little or

no oversight of the Beechwood Re investment management programs by SHIP’s

management.

68.

The legal documentation supporting SHIP’s investments in Beechwood

Re was incomplete, or in some cases, missing executed documents. These omissions

include:

69.

f)

The Beechwood Re IMA was not executed, calling into question
the legality of the investments made under that contract;

Some securities that were issued to SHIP were not listed on the
schedule of investments;

Beechwood Re and at least one of its subsidiaries failed to release
audited financial statements;

Beechwood Re did not use required Agency Agreements with
certain investments;

Amendment No. 1 to the Custody Agreement dated February 3,
2016, clarified ownership and registration of the securities, and
clarified that SHIP was authorized to provide direction; however,
the copies of the Custody Agreement that Beechwood Re
provided were not fully executed.

The guarantee on investment performance was provided by an
affiliate without the means to perform.

Given the glaring problems with the Beechwood Re investments and

Platinum’s mounting legal troubles, in October 2016, Defendant Wegner stated in
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an email to the Board that SHIP would fully divest itself from all Platinum-related
investments (including Beechwood Re) by the end of that year.

70. At an October 2016 meeting, SHOT determined that it would conduct
a detailed review and analysis of the Beechwood Re investments.

71. A subsequent analysis of the Custody Account Agreements between
Beechwood Re and Wilmington Trust confirmed that while the assets were “pledged
to SHIP,” they had no documentation evidencing any such pledge, and the assets
remained titled to Beechwood Re.

72.  AtaNovember 2016 SHOT executive session meeting, it became clear
that the valuation of SHIP’s Beechwood Re investments was likely inaccurate.
Specifically, SHIP had calculated its risk-based capital (“RBC”) ratio at 147%
without any devaluation of its investments.® At this same meeting, it was suggested
that the Roebling Re arrangement (discussed infra) differed from the Beechwood Re
arrangement because SHIP’s Board had exercised a hands-on approach and

performed due diligence before entering into the Roebling Re arrangement,

3 RBC is used to determine the minimum capital insurers are required to hold in
reserve to avoid regulatory intervention by their state of domicile. Insurance
regulators commonly use RBC standards to determine the appropriate amount of
regulatory intervention for their domestic insurers. If the RBC ratio dips below 200%
but stays above 150%, Pennsylvania law requires that the insurer submit to the state
a written plan detailing efforts to improve the RBC ratio. 40 P.S. § 221.1-A. If the
RBC ratio dips below 150%, further steps are taken to try and correct the company’s
conditions without entering rehabilitation or liquidation. 1d.
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insinuating that SHIP’s Board failed to exercise this leadership in regards to the
Beechwood Re transaction.

73.  As will be seen, the Roebling Re transaction was no more defensible
than the Beechwood transactions.

74.  Further review and analysis revealed several red flags with regard to
the Beechwood Re investments, including conflicts of interest, incomplete
documentation, and flawed ratings reports.

75.  For example, SHIP acquired an interest in a loan to entities known as
Agera from BCLIC Primary, a New York statutory trust affiliated with Beechwood
Re.

76. Defendants Wegner and Lorentz conducted very little due diligence
before committing SHIP to the transaction, which took place over the span of about
a week.

77. Upon information and belief, the amount assigned to SHIP pursuant to
the agreement does not match the book value of the Agera loan, and the
documentation of the transaction lacked the customary UCC statements necessary
for perfecting security interests. The Agency Agreements which forfeited SHIP’s
rights in these investments were executed by Defendant Wegner.

78.  Moreover, the Agera loan investment was riddled with potential harm

for SHIP: it involved companies with significant debt obligations, an over-
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concentration of risk, and a potential conflict of interest given the apparent
relationship between Agera’s principal Michael Nordlicht and Mark Nordlicht, the
founder of both Beechwood Re and Platinum.

79. By the end of 2016, SHIP had begun the process of ending its
relationship with Beechwood Re.

B.  The Roebling Re Transactions

80. In or around September 2016, Roebling Re was a newly created
offshore-entity owned by the Bruckner Investment Trust (“the BIT”), an active
investment trust that is domiciled in Delaware.

81. SHIP management, with the assistance of others, caused SHIP to enter
Into a reinsurance agreement that allowed SHIP to cede 49% of most of its long-
term care policy liability to this newly formed entity so that Roebling Re assumed
49% of these policy obligations from SHIP. Defendants also caused SHIP to transfer
to Roebling Re, as a reinsurance premium, assets of substantially the same amount

as the value placed on the reinsured liabilities in SHIP’s financial statements.* These

4 As discussed elsewhere in this Amended Complaint, in fact these liabilities were
undervalued on SHIP’s financial statements and the amount for which Roebling Re
assumed responsibility was materially greater than was represented by the parties.
This was yet one more risk with which Roebling Re could not cope because it simply
had no assets of its own.
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assets were to be held in a “funds withheld account” to secure Roebling Re’s
reinsurance obligations.

82.  While Roebling Re appeared to accept financial responsibility for these
liabilities, in fact, Roebling Re did not have any resources other than funds provided
to it by SHIP. As a result, there was no required meaningful transfer of risk from
SHIP to Roebling Re.

83.  Further compounding the problems with this arrangement, Roebling Re
was permitted to withdraw the first $100 million of what was planned to be at least
$300 million from the funds withheld account to fund certain investments, and to
substitute for the amount withdrawn certain securities of dubious or misstated value.
The flawed transaction was also propped up by unachievable projections on returns
on investments. On information and belief, the entire Roebling Re arrangement was
motivated by the desire to enable the company to mislead regulators as to its true
financial condition and to facilitate these investments outside of regulatory scrutiny.

84. To fund the investments, SHIP transferred $100 million from its funds
withheld account to the BIT.

85.  The BIT then invested $88.2 million of the $100 million into securities.
Defendants Wegner and Lorentz, and those acting in concert with them, falsely

represented that these securities had a value of $150.9 million. Notably, they were
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not rated by a recognized rating organization. They were purchased originally by a
non-insurer (i.e., the BIT).

86. In return for its investment, the BIT issued SHIP a note with a 2.5%
coupon rate and a 15-year maturity date. This note was collateralized by the
purchased securities (the returns of which were used to pay the note), Roebling Re’s
stock (i.e., profits from the securities, if any) and the BIT’s other property (which
was non-existent beyond cash flows from the Roebling Re arrangement).

87.  SHIP and its auditors unjustifiably valued the BIT note at $100 million.

88. In addition to the $100 million note, the BIT also issued a $29 million
note to Roebling Re. This note was for Roebling Re’s alleged contributions to
capitalization of the BIT and its alleged efforts to enter into the Roebling Re
arrangement. This note has a 20-year maturity date and was inferiorly collateralized
to the $100 million note.

89. The BIT paid $2,115,582 in management fees related to the acquisition
and paid $3 million to the financial advisers that had brokered the transaction. The
BIT retained the remaining balance (approximately $6.7 million in cash or cash
equivalents) for future obligations.

90. The BIT also created a supplemental trust that functioned, at least in
theory, to satisfy Roebling Re’s reinsurance obligation to overcome any adverse

developments and corresponding deficiencies in reserves for the ceded policies.
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91. Atthe time SHIP entered into the Roebling Re agreement, Roebling Re
appeared to have no assets. Similarly, beyond the remaining SHIP loan proceeds and
revenues from the $88.2 million investments, the BIT had no appreciable assets.

92. After the Roebling Re arrangement was effected, in or around
September 2016, the adequacy of reserves was reviewed and additions from the BIT
were due on a quarterly basis.

93.  Within just over a year, Roebling Re was no longer able to maintain its
reserving obligations under the co-insurance agreement. The BIT was also unable to
repay its note to SHIP as required.

94. In December 2016, Roebling Re transferred $10 million of the note to
SHIP to avoid paying a ceding commission.

95. InJune 2017, Roebling Re transferred another $19 million of the note
to SHIP to avoid triggering a funding top-up obligation.

96. In December 2017, the BIT used $6 million of its retained cash or cash
equivalents to satisfy Roebling Re’s top-up obligation, presumably leaving only
approximately $500,000 in BIT’s accounts.

97.  Within 15 months from the initial September 2016 investment, nearly
all of Roebling Re’s and BIT’s assets were exhausted. This meant that SHIP was
relying on the performance of the collateralized securities and had no material

reinsurance protection from the Roebling Re arrangement.
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98. Despite the inability of Roebling Re to perform on its reinsurance
obligations, SHIP reduced its statutory reserves as if Roebling Re were capable of
paying all of the losses for which it would be responsible under the reinsurance
agreement, something that the Defendants knew full well was simply not the case.

99. Asof April 2018, Roebling Re owed SHIP $98 million under the initial
note and $31.2 million under the Roebling Re note.

100. In April 2018 regulatory filings, SHIP stated that it was terminating its
reinsurance agreement with Roebling Re. SHIP exited this arrangement at the urging
of the PID.

101. SHIP expended millions of dollars in the Roebling Re transaction and

has nothing to show for it except a worsened financial condition.

V1. SHIP IS PLACED IN REHABILITATION FOLLOWING A
MANDATORY CONTROL LEVEL EVENT

102. On March 1, 2019, SHIP filed with the PID its statutory annual
financial statement for the year ending December 31, 2018.

103. That financial statement reflected that SHIP had declined from a
reported surplus of more than $12 million as of year-end 2017 to a reported deficit
of more than $466 million, a drop of $478 million in just one year, apparently

rendering the Company statutorily insolvent as defined in 40 P.S. § 221.3.°

®> SHIP remains in rehabilitation, not liquidation, and no court has declared SHIP to
be insolvent such that it should be liquidated. While SHIP’s deficit appears to bring
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104. The Company’s most recent RBC report indicated that its total adjusted
capital was substantially below its mandatory control-level RBC, thereby triggering
a “mandatory control level event” as defined in 40 P.S. § 221.1-A.5

105. SHIP was directed to provide the PID a corrective action plan to remedy
this decline, but failed to do so.

106. OnJanuary 29, 2020, the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania placed
SHIP into rehabilitation at the request and application of the Commissioner.

107. The purpose of this rehabilitation is, inter alia, to identify and address
the causes of SHIP’s financial deterioration for the benefit of policyholders and
creditors.

108. The Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania appointed Commissioner
Altman and her successors, including Acting Commissioner Humphreys, as
Rehabilitator.

109. As Rehabilitator, the Commissioner appointed Patrick H. Cantilo as

SDR, and subject to the oversight of the Commissioner and the Commonwealth

SHIP within the definition of insolvency in § 221.3, the Rehabilitator maintains that
SHIP should remain in rehabilitation and she does not admit through this allegation
that SHIP should be liquidated.

® When a mandatory control level event is triggered, insurance regulators are
required to take control of an insurer (as they did in this case) for the protection of
policyholders and creditors.
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Court, Mr. Cantilo is tasked with designing and implementing SHIP’s rehabilitation
and exercising the Rehabilitator’s authority.

110. On August 24, 2021, the Commonwealth Court approved the
Rehabilitator’s proposed Plan of Rehabilitation. While certain intervening insurance
regulators from other states appealed the Plan’s approval, their request for stay was
denied, and thus the Rehabilitator is proceeding with the implementation of the
Approved Rehabilitation Plan (“the Plan”), which involves, inter alia, offering
policyholders certain options for modifying their policies.

111. The Rehabilitator is implementing the Plan; however, until policies are
modified as proposed under the Plan, SHIP is currently continuing to conduct its

business as usual subject to the Commonwealth Court’s oversight.

VIlI. EACTS ASTO EACH DEFENDANT

A.  Wegner, Lorentz and Staldine Knowingly Entered into and/or
Concealed the Flawed Beechwood Re and Roebling Re Transactions,
Contributing Significantly to SHIP’s Decline

112. In December 2013, Defendant Wegner contacted Beechwood Re
regarding a potential investment in his company, Triliant LLC d/b/a Kala
(“Triliant”). Also in December 2013, Mr. Wegner arranged for his son, Ryan
Wegner, to join him for a meeting with Beechwood Re leadership regarding this

potential investment.
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113. InJanuary 2014, Defendant Wegner emailed Ryan Wegner expressing
optimism that the December 2013 meeting would lead to a payment of $250,000 for
the Wegners. The relationship the Wegners developed with Beechwood Re led SHIP
to make its massive investment in Beechwood Re.

114. Just a few months after this meeting, in April 2014, Defendant Lorentz
informed Defendant Wegner that, after having met with Beechwood Re’s leadership,
he was comfortable with the concept of investing SHIP’s reserves with Beechwood
Re. Defendant Lorentz suggested that SHIP did not need to “go overboard” on due
diligence in advance of making this investment decision. He further explained that
he was unsure whether SHIP would want to be in a position of vetting Beechwood
Re’s individual investment deals due to resource constraints and because this would
be the “job of the asset manager” (i.e., Beechwood itself).

115. Defendant Staldine also took a lead role in driving the Beechwood deal.
In June 2014 emails exchanged between Defendants Wegner and Staldine,
Defendant Staldine stated that his “position responsibilities” during those upcoming
months would include “driv[ing] the Beechwood deal” and “extend[ing] the
Beechwood relationship to other blocks of business to the benefit of all parties.”

116. Then, in July 2014, Fuzion’s VP of Human Resources confirmed that

Defendant Staldine would be a consultant working on the Beechwood Re project.
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117. Inoraround September 2014, it was discussed at a SHIP board meeting
that Defendant Wegner’s family had a relationship with Beechwood Re and that this
relationship presented a potential conflict of interest for SHIP’s investments in
Beechwood Re. Despite these concerns, under Defendant Wegner’s leadership,
SHIP continued to make additional investments in Beechwood Re until March 2015.

118. In or around November 2014, Defendant Wegner tasked Defendant
Staldine with preparing a presentation for SHIP’s board on Beechwood Re. In an
email on this topic, Defendant Wegner told Defendant Staldine that it was “critical
to make a great impression” in the upcoming meeting and Defendant Staldine replied
that his intent was to make the presentation “Fortune 500 worthy.” Defendant
Wegner’s daughter also assisted in preparing the Beechwood Re materials and
Defendant Staldine was involved in Beechwood Re’s quarterly business review that
fall.

119. In December 2014, a full six months after SHIP first invested in
Beechwood Re, Defendant Wegner informed Beechwood Re’s leadership that
SHIP’s Board would need to gather additional information about Beechwood Re’s
investments. Specifically, Defendant Wegner stated that SHIP’s Board should gather
information regarding Beechwood Re’s “structure, security, etc.” However,
Defendant Wegner assured Beechwood Re’s leadership that this review would be

“less intensive than some others [Beechwood] might do deals with.”
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120. In December 2014, Defendant Lorentz presented the Beechwood Re
transaction as a means to improve SHIP’s declining RBC ratio.

121. Mr. Lorentz later was the impetus behind the idea for the surplus note
transaction with Beechwood. It was Mr. Lorentz’s responsibility to review that
transaction.

122. At an August 27, 2015, meeting of SHIP’s Board of Directors, the
Board requested additional due diligence on the Beechwood Re transactions.
Defendants Wegner, Lorentz and Staldine were all present at this meeting. It is
unclear what, if anything, came of this request.

123. After September 2016, Defendants Wegner and Lorentz actively tried
to avoid regulatory action related to SHIP’s declining RBC ratio. At the time, SHIP
calculated its RBC ratio at 280%, failing to include any devaluation for the
Beechwood Re or Roebling Re arrangements.

124. Also in September 2016, SHIP’s need for solvency was identified as
the rationale to enter into the Roebling Re arrangement. Specifically, the Roebling
Re arrangement was designed to address SHIP’s declining surplus ostensibly by
establishing a structure that allowed SHIP to bolster its surplus through capital
creation and to maintain RBC ratios at a level that would stave off regulatory action

despite losses from the Beechwood Re investments.
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125. In October 2016, Defendant Wegner acknowledged to the Board that
the list of references SHIP engaged during the due diligence process for the
Beechwood Re investments was only provided verbally. Further, Defendant Wegner
stated that he was unable to locate any notes related to the alleged due diligence
performed on these investments.

126. At the October 2016 meeting, SHIP’s Board appointed Defendant
Staldine (SHIP’s then-Chief Operations Officer), as the acting Chief Executive
Officer.

127. Even when Beechwood’s issues came to light in the fall of 2016,
Defendant Wegner continued to defend the Beechwood Re transactions and the
individuals at Beechwood Re. Specifically, Defendant Wegner maintained that the
leaders of Beechwood had high integrity and it would have been difficult for SHIP
to uncover anything improper three years prior.

128. Despite Defendant Wegner’s assurances that the Beechwood Re
investments were sound, in October 2016, Defendant Wegner announced that SHIP
was seeking to hire a new Chief Investment Officer as soon as possible to relieve
Defendant Lorentz of those responsibilities.

129. Also in October 2016, Defendant Wegner’s conflicts of interest were

made explicit: SHIP’s Board held another meeting at which it was revealed that
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Beechwood Re had invested SHIP’s money in Triliant, the business owned by
Defendant Wegner’s family.

130. Further, records show that even prior to SHIP’s approval of the
Beechwood Re transaction, Defendant Wegner had secured a $250,000 commitment
from Beechwood Re for the Triliant investment.

131. Based on Beechwood Re’s investment in Triliant, Defendant Wegner
and/or his family may have personally benefitted from SHIP’s Beechwood Re
investment in this company. At the October 2016 meeting, the SHIP Board
determined that it would place Defendant Wegner on administrative leave and
ultimately terminate him from his position as President and CEO of SHIP.

132. Upon information and belief, there is no evidence that SHIP’s Board
approved the first two IMAs, or that Defendant Wegner even sought the Board’s
approval for these IMAs. It is unclear whether the Board was ever advised of the
first two IMAs in advance of their execution by Defendant Wegner.

133. During the November 2016 SHIP Board meeting, it was acknowledged
that the PID and SHIP management harbored concerns that Defendant Lorentz was
not sufficiently competent to serve as SHIP’s Chief Financial Officer.

134. Specifically, Defendant Staldine, then a SHIP director and officer,

noted that investments were not within Defendant Lorentz’s expertise. Further,
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Defendant Staldine questioned whether Mr. Lorentz had been appropriately
skeptical of the Beechwood Re investments.

135. SHIP’s officers and directors also tried to avoid regulatory action by
considering re-domestication. In January 2017, SHIP considered both the District of
Columbia and Texas for this purpose, eventually pinning their hopes on Texas as
they believed that Texas had less stringent RBC requirements than other states and
regulatory action was not necessarily required at a RBC ratio below 70%. Their
efforts to re-domesticate SHIP failed in the face of regulatory opposition.

136. Later, in February 2017, SHIP’s management met again and concluded
that Defendant Lorentz had exercised poor judgment in approving the Beechwood
Re investment.

137. Despite these efforts, in February 2017, the PID concluded that SHIP
had a capital shortfall. Between February and November 2017, the PID requested
that SHIP issue a corrective plan and eventually considered seeking administrative
supervision of SHIP.

138. By January 2018, the PID communicated its concerns to SHIP,
specifically stating that SHIP’s reserve assumptions were incorrect and that the
Beechwood Re and Roebling Re transactions were problematic.

139. In February 2018, SHIP entered into a letter agreement with the PID

similar in some respects to administrative supervision.
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140. It is generally understood that incorrect actuarial assumptions and the
imprudent Beechwood Re and Roebling Re investments caused or contributed to
SHIP’s financial difficulties.

141. Defendants knew or should have known that the Beechwood Re and
Roebling Re transactions were ill-advised, lacked appropriate due diligence, and
ultimately were likely to prove harmful to SHIP. Yet Defendants concealed these
facts from the PID, SHIP’s policyholders and creditors, and the public.

142. Moreover, Defendants knew or should have known of SHIP’s
precarious financial condition, but failed to disclose these facts to the PID, SHIP’s
policyholders and creditors, and the public. Rather, Defendants worked with SHIP’s
consultants to produce financial statements and reports, which were required to be
submitted to the PID, declaring that SHIP’s reserves were adequate and in
compliance with Pennsylvania’s insurance laws and regulations.

143. Defendants further knew, or should have known, that these statements
contradicted the analysis of outside consultants, or otherwise significantly
overestimated the adequacy of SHIP’s reserves. Throughout the PID’s investigation,

Defendants concealed these relevant facts from regulators.
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B.  Eide Bailly Aided SHIP’s Management in Masking the Flaws in the
Roebling Re Transaction, which Contributed to Misrepresentations to
Regulators and SHIP’s Financial Deterioration

144, Eide Bailly served as SHIP’s independent auditor from 2013 through
2019. SHIP relied on Eide Bailly to assist SHIP in making financial reporting and
financial decisions that were critical to the health of SHIP’s business and proper
regulatory oversight.

145. Eide Bailly advised SHIP on the development and effectuation of the
reinsurance agreement with Roebling Re. Specifically, by a letter dated November
23, 2016, Eide Bailly provided an opinion letter stating that the Roebling Re
arrangement satisfied NAIC requirements for reinsurance and risk transfer
standards.

146. Further, in 2017, Eide Bailly audited SHIP’s financial statements for
that fiscal year. In this audit, Eide Bailly considered SHIP’s estimate of the reserves
it maintained for long-term care insurance benefits. Based on unreasonable actuarial
methods that relied on statistics from prior claim payment experience, estimates and
assumptions regarding mortality, morbidity, lapse rates, expected future premium
adjustments, estimated conversion rates, benefit utilization and anticipated
investment earnings, Eide Bailly concluded that the actuarial assumptions used to
develop SHIP’s reserves were “reasonable in relation to the statutory financial
statements taken as a whole.”
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147. Eide Bailly reached this conclusion despite the reality and indications
that SHIP’s actuarial methods and assumptions were based on outdated or erroneous
information, which led to insufficient reserves and inaccurate financial estimates.

148. Furthermore, Eide Bailly failed to employ generally accepted and
required accounting principles and auditing standards for auditors to investigate the
reasonableness of the investment revenue assumed by SHIP’s management.

149. These failures of Eide Bailly assisted SHIP’s management in masking
the flaws in the Roebling Re transaction and contributed to misrepresentations to the
regulators of the PID and contributed to SHIP’s financial deterioration.

150. Eide Bailly failed to provide the type of sound financial advice
ordinarily expected of financial professionals and required by its engagement with
SHIP. Accordingly, SHIP suffered financial damages including but not limited to
those that arose from the Roebling Re transaction as well as those damages arising
from the inaccurately audited 2017 financial results.

C. Defendant Lorentz’s Actionable Behavior

151. In addition to other conduct described in this Amended Complaint,
Defendant Lorentz played a particular role in causing SHIP to suffer losses as a result
of the ill-advised Roebling Re transaction. Specifically, on at least three separate
occasions, Lorentz provided misleading information on and related to the investment
ratings assigned to certain commercial notes issued by Roebling Re’s parent (i.e.,
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BIT) despite knowing that the ratings for those notes were vital components of both
obtaining approval of the transaction and valuing it for accurate financial reporting.

152. As described herein, in September 2016 SHIP purported to cede 49%
of its liabilities to Roebling Re and providing Roebling Re with access to a funds
withheld account used to secure Roebling Re’s obligations—although no
meaningful risk transfer actually occurred, in part because Roebling Re had no assets
of its own to pay claims. (See { 81-83.).

153. As part of the Roebling Re transaction, BIT immediately withdrew
$100 million from the funds withheld account to invest in other securities and, in
exchange, BIT issued two notes: a $100 million Class A Note to SHIP, and a $29
million Class B Note to a supplemental trust of Roebling Re naming SHIP as a
purported beneficiary. (See 1 84-88.)’

154. On September 27, 2017, Egan-Jones Rating Company, a rating
organization focused on the credit worthiness of issuers raising capital in private
credit markets (“Egan-Jones”), prepared a ratings report on the Class A Note and
Class B Note (“the BIT Notes”).

155. Inits September 27, 2017 report, Egan-Jones assigned a rating of “A”

to the Class A Note and a rating of “A-" to the Class B Note. These A and A- ratings

" As part of the Roebling Re arrangement, portions of Note B were contributed to
SHIP as commission payment for the reinsurance deal.
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assigned to the Class A Note and Class B Note align with an “NAIC 1” rating. (See
T 49 n.2 (explaining NAIC ratings system; “NAIC 1” being the least risky
investment.)

156. In rating the BIT Notes, Egan-Jones relied on BIT’s pledged assets as
security, specifically identifying three sets of assets as collateral: a $33.33 million
note managed by Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co L.P. (“KKR Note”); $33.3 million
in preferred equity in Ares Commercial Real Estate Inc., Ares Management LLC, or
their affiliates (the “Ares Preferred Equity”); and $55.7 million of securities issued
by subsidiaries of Assured Guaranty Ltd.®

Mr. Lorentz misrepresented the risk of the BIT Notes supporting the Roebling Re
transaction when providing information for use in meeting with PID.

157. Mr. Lorentz knew these ratings were a crucial component of the
Roebling Re transaction, and Mr. Lorentz knew these ratings were made expressly
contingent on using the KKR Note and the Ares Preferred Equity as collateral.
Neither the KKR Note nor the Ares Preferred Equity existed as assets of BIT at the
time Egan-Jones issued its opinion, and the Egan-Jones report did not address how
the BIT Notes would be rated in the absence of the KRK Note or the Ares Preferred

Equity.

8 The market value of the Assured Guaranty Ltd. securities was $88.6 million, but
only $55.7 million was assigned as security.
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158. Ignoring these critical facts, Mr. Lorentz misrepresented the risk level
of the BIT Notes when he provided information about Roebling Re to the Board of
Trustees and Audit Committee in advance of a meeting with PID regarding the
Roebling Re transaction.

159. On or about November 7, 2016, approximately one week before a
meeting with PID regarding the Roebling Re transaction, Mr. Lorentz emailed a
copy of the Egan-Jones report and a related legal opinion to Thomas Hampton, a
member of SHIP’s Board of Trustees and its Audit Committee.

160. Itis clear that Mr. Lorentz knew the importance of the ratings assigned
to the BIT Notes and knew the importance of the KKR Note and the Ares Preferred
Equity in supporting those ratings when he provided information to Mr. Hampton
on November 7, 2016. In his cover email bearing the subject line “Reinsurance
Support,” represented to Mr. Hampton that the Egan-Jones “rating letter presupposes
the Ares and KKR asset deals in addition to the original Assured Guaranty securities
transaction.”

161. Further discussion between Mr. Hampton and Mr. Lorentz on
November 7 shows that Mr. Lorentz also knew that the ratings provided by Egan-
Jones and the collateral supporting those ratings were critical pieces of information
for the Board and Audit Committee in preparing for the PID meeting and follow-up

reporting.  Indeed, Mr. Hampton asked Mr. Lorentz to provide additional
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information on “one issue” alone: the relationship between the ratings assigned to
the BIT Notes and the securities used as collateral to support those ratings.

162. In response, Mr. Lorentz explained that the Egan-Jones ratings on the
BIT notes were dependent on and “supported by the following investments: Assured
Guaranty securities; Ares asset deal; [and the] KKR asset deal.” Mr. Lorentz
presented the deals to secure the KKR Note and the Ares Preferred Equity supporting
the BIT Notes as inevitable: “[w]hile the BIT currently consists exclusively of the
Assured Guaranty investment, once the other deals are executed, there will be a
rebalancing of the assets under the trusts, i.e., the AG securities will be allocated
among the four trusts. Likewise, the Ares and KKR investments will also be
allocated among the trusts. The reason for this is to get greater diversification than
would exist by holding each strategy in a single trust. This is why the Egan-Jones
rating letter addresses all three strategies.”

163. Mr. Hampton then asked Mr. Lorentz to address the NAIC rating for
the BIT Notes in the event the KKR Note and the Ares Preferred Equity did not
materialize and the Assured Guaranty securities were left as the only security of the
BIT Notes. Mr. Lorentz represented to Mr. Hampton that the ratings assigned to
BIT Notes would be reduced by “only . . . one rating notch” without the KKR Note
and Ares Preferred Equity. Specifically, Mr. Lorentz represented that the Class A

Note would remain “NAIC 1” rated (slipping from an “A” to an “A-" rating), and
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the Class B Note would fall from “NAIC 1” to the top of the “NAIC 2” rating
(slipping from an “A-" to a “B+++" rating).

164. Mr. Lorentz’s representations regarding the ratings of the BIT Notes
without the KKR Note and the Ares Preferred Equity are not supported by the Egan-
Jones report, which is silent on the ratings that would apply in such a scenario.

165. In fact, there appears to be no clear basis for Mr. Lorentz’s analysis of
the impact of removing the KKR Note and the Ares Preferred Equity as supporting
collateral. Given that losing the KKR Note and the Ares Preferred Equity would
cause the collateral to drop from $122.4 million (i.e., the $33.33 million KKR Note,
$33.3 million in Ares Preferred Equity composed of two $16.67 million securities,
and the $55.7 million Assured Guaranty securities) to $55.7 million (or at most $88.6
million, the market value of the Assured Guaranty securities), however, there would
have been more than a “one notch” decrease in the ratings of these investments.

Mr. Lorentz misrepresented the risk of the BIT Notes immediately after SHIP’s
meeting with PID regarding Roebling Re.

166. Mr. Lorentz’s misleading statements were not made in error or in haste
because he repeated them eleven days later. On November 18, 2016, Mr. Hampton
reported on his conversation with PID regarding Roebling Re, including his
representation to PID (apparently based on his prior exchange with Mr. Lorentz) that

the BIT Notes were rated “NAIC 1.” In response, Mr. Lorentz offered his “[o]nly
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correction” and represented again to Mr. Hampton that the BIT Notes were rated
“A” and “A-.” Mr. Lorentz did not truthfully address the value of the BIT Notes
without the KKR Note and the Ares Preferred Equity despite knowing that
incomplete and inaccurate information had been relayed to PID by Mr. Hampton.

167. These representations (or rather, misrepresentations) took place well
after the Roebling Re arrangement had been executed and without any commitment
or guarantee that the KKR Note and the Ares Preferred Equity transactions would
materialize. In other words, at the time he made these representations to Mr.
Hampton, Mr. Lorentz knew that the Egan-Jones ratings were based, in part, on
collateral that did not exist and might never exist.

As CFO, Mr. Lorentz caused SHIP to rely on an erroneous valuation of the BIT
Notes in its financial reporting.

168. As part of its annual financial reporting, SHIP retained Dixon Hughes
to, among other things, perform a valuation of the two notes as of year-end 2016.
This report was issued on or around February 20, 2017 to Mr. Lorentz.

169. In calculating the fair value of the Notes, Dixon Hughes relied on the
Egan-Jones credit ratings—which, at this point were invalid, as the represented

collateral was incorrect and did not exist, as Mr. Lorentz was well aware.
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170. As CFO, Mr. Lorentz should have ensured that the BIT Notes were
accurately valued by accounting for the possibility—and seeming inevitability—of
the KKR Note and the Ares Preferred Equity failing to materialize.

171. Had appropriate credit rating been used (i.e., not “A” and “A-"), the
market value of the BIT Notes would have been lower, and, by extension, SHIP’s
assets on the financial statements (correctly) would have been lower.

D. Defendant’s Staldine’s Actionable Behavior

172. Defendant Staldine worked for SHIP’s predecessor CNO for over 16
years. CNO originated as Conseco, the company that originally sold the long-term
care policies that later formed the core holdings of SHIP.

173. Defendant Staldine had vast experience with long-term care policies by
virtue of his time with Conseco; his work as a consultant for SHIP in 2014; his tenure
as COO of SHIP from 2015 to 2017; and his tenure as CEO of SHIP from 2017 to
2020.

174. More than anyone else in SHIP’s senior management, Defendant
Staldine knew or should have known and understood the importance of SHIP’s
actuarial landscape.

175. Working for Conseco, Staldine worked directly on rate increase and
compliance matters related to long-term care insurance. He was also working at
Conseco in 2012, when the Commonwealth Court issued its pivotal decision in the
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Penn Treaty matter which, among other things, re-emphasized the need for long-
term care insurers to closely monitor their actuarial assumptions.

176. Inaddition, Defendant Staldine knew that SHIP was a long-term insurer
in run-off and could not absorb the financial impact of mismanagement of actuarial
projections and poor investment decisions.

177. Thus, based on his experience, at the time he served as senior
management for SHIP, Mr. Staldine was or should have been familiar with the
extensive financial difficulties faced by the long-term care industry and how those
issues might impact SHIP—including the meaning and impact of the Penn Treaty
proceedings, which arose out of what was and still is the largest long-term care
insolvency and involved a Pennsylvania-domiciled long-term care insurer like SHIP.

178. During his tenure in senior management with SHIP from 2015 to 2020,
Defendant Staldine contributed to SHIP’s financial losses by, among other things:

a) Failing to affirmatively and timely report Defendant Wegner’s
clear management failures to the Trustees and/or to PID;

b) Failing to ascertain the reliability of Milliman’s actuarial
projections and to assure that SHIP management would rely on
appropriate actuarial projections;

C) Failing to assure the propriety of the advice and services
provided by Eide Bailly;

d)  Providing final approval and signoff on SHIP’s inaccurate and
misleading Annual Statements for the years 2016, 2017, and
2018, knowing that the PID would justifiably rely on those
Annual Statements;
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e) Failing to affirmatively and adequately disclose problems
relating to personnel issues, consultants and management to the
PID, the SDR and the Chief Rehabilitation Officer in a prompt
fashion; and

f) Participating in and perpetuating a management enterprise that
contributed to SHIP’s financial losses from 2015 to 2020.

E.  Protiviti Failed to Properly Review SHIP’s Financial Deterioration and
the Proposed Beechwood Re Transactions

179. Protiviti was engaged by SHIP in January 2015 to: (1) assist in
identifying and mitigating risks with regard to the Beechwood Re transaction,
including, especially, reviewing due diligence material; (2) assist in reviewing
economic assumptions used to calculate the economic impact of the transactions;
and (3) assist in reviewing the transaction documents themselves by confirming that
risk mitigation steps were provided for in the transaction documents and making
recommendations to monitor compliance with risk mitigation steps. However, as the
foregoing makes clear, Protiviti fell far short in its role.

180. In February 2015, Protiviti performed a review and analysis of a
proposed Surplus Loan Transaction with Beechwood. In this analysis (“the Protiviti
memo”), Protiviti noted that “[t]ypical due diligence information about the
counterparties [i.e., Beechwood] (financial statements, ownership structures,
biographies and/or background checks of the principals) were not made available to
[Protiviti] for this review.” As a result, Protiviti was unable to “assess qualitatively

the credit default risk being borne by SHIP.”
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181. Protiviti’s analysis was based upon the January 5, 2015 version of the
specific Beechwood Re agreements that were being negotiated. Protiviti confirmed
that “[a]s of [the] writing, Beechwood has not provided the ownership structure to
determine how BRe (Beechwood Re), BRIL (Beechwood Bermuda), BAM (B Asset
Management), and BRILLC relate and who owns them, nor have they provided
financial statements and biographies of the principals involved in the transactions.”
In Protiviti’s opinion, that information should have been a “non-negotiable condition
to closing.” Despite reaching such conclusions, Protiviti failed in its obligation to
ensure that SHIP’s Board, and in particular, the Audit Committee, was aware of its
concerns.

182. Protiviti attended formal quarterly meetings with SHIP’s Audit
Committee. Throughout the year, in addition to these formal meetings, members of
Protiviti’s staff met with the Audit Committee on several occasions. Although many
of these meetings were intentionally organized so that SHIP’s management was not
In attendance, and while SHIP’s management alluded to the fact that Protiviti may
be engaged in additional assignments outside of their formal agreement with SHIP,
Protiviti, and SHIP’s management, failed to inform the Trustees of Protiviti’s review
of the Beechwood IMAs.

183. Indeed, upon information and belief, SHIP’s management separately

engaged Protiviti and instructed Protiviti not to inform the Trustees of this
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assignment and to withhold the Protiviti memo (which was, of course, critical of the
Beechwood transaction) from the Trustees. Protiviti was performing off-the-book
projects directly with SHIP management and without the knowledge of SHIP’s
Audit Committee, then withheld essential information related to those projects from
SHIP’s board and Audit Committee at the request of management because sharing
that information would have impeded management’s desired goal of obtaining
approval for the Beechwood transaction.

184. Protiviti’s February 2015 memo circulated amongst the members of the
Board of Trustees on April 23, 2018, more than a year after PID first asked SHIP for
a corrective action plan. Indeed, although Protiviti promptly shared its February
2015 memo with management by sending it to both Mr. Wegner and Mr. Lorentz
(the latter of whom, upon information and belief, represented to the Trustees that he
never saw the memo) at the time it was prepared, the February 2015 memo was
concealed and not presented to the Board until much later.

185. Asa Trustee and chair of SHIP’s Audit Committee, Mr. Hampton’s role
was to coordinate Protiviti’s work and compensation on SHIP’s behalf. Upon
information and belief, because the Audit Committee was never made aware of the
Beechwood side project, SHIP management paid fees separately to Protiviti that

were not reviewed by and/or approved by Mr. Hampton.
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186. By engaging separately with Mr. Wegner and Mr. Lorentz, without the
knowledge of SHIP’s Board or the Trustees, and by failing to raise red flags
identified in its February 2015 memo regarding the Beechwood transaction, Protiviti
engaged in willful misconduct and grossly negligent acts evincing reckless disregard
for SHIP’s wellbeing and for the wellbeing of SHIP’s policyholders.

187. Protiviti, aware of the serious and risky nature of the red flags it
identified in the Beechwood IMAs, acted unreasonably in its role as a statutorily
required internal auditor for SHIP. As a result, SHIP continued to invest significant
sums of money with Beechwood, further compounding this risk (and ultimately,
causing more damage to SHIP).

188. Protiviti staff was provided access to SHIP’s personnel, vendors, SHIP
management, SHIP’s records, and other sources of information. In addition, as
SHIP’s internal auditor, Protiviti was often in SHIP’s/Fuzion’s offices in Indiana,
putting Protiviti in a position to investigate and identify problems through direct and
indirect means.

189. Despite its extensive access to important information, Protiviti never
informed SHIP’s Board or the Trustees of Mr. Wegner’s inappropriate behavior, nor
that Mr. Wegner’s children were working with SHIP and receiving fees. Rather,

SHIP’s board became aware of this inappropriate behavior from an external auditor
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when its internal auditor (i.e., Protiviti) either failed to do its diligence or knew, but
did not raise these issues with the Board.

190. The consistent pattern over several years demonstrates that Protiviti
continuously engaged in misrepresentations of SHIP’s financial health and ability to
exist as a going concern, reflected in years of overly optimistic and/or inappropriate
or inaccurate estimates, assumptions, and calculations. SHIP relied on Protiviti to
help make critical financial decisions in the management of SHIP’s business. This

reliance ultimately inured to SHIP’s detriment.

VIIl. CAUSES OF ACTION

~ Count 1: Breach of Fiduciary Duty _
(As Against Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, and Staldine)

191. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs of this Amended
Complaint as if fully set forth here.

192. Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, and Staldine presented the Beechwood
transaction to the Trustees and PID as a financially sound transaction.

193. The Trustees and PID relied on these representations.

194. As set forth in detail in the above paragraphs, Defendants Wegner,
Lorentz, and Staldine, all of whom were key officers and directors of SHIP where
they held senior management positions, entered into the Beechwood transactions
after conducting little to no serious due diligence about Beechwood or its principals.
Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, and Staldine entered into the Beechwood transactions
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despite knowing or suspecting that the Beechwood transactions were founded upon
suspect ratings and valuations.

195. Additionally, Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, and Staldine knew or
suspected that serious deficiencies existed in SHIP’s claims reserves, underwriting,
and pricing practices but failed to disclose such material facts to the Board or the
PID.

196. The foregoing constituted a series of violations of Defendants’
fiduciary duties as officers and directors of SHIP.

197. Defendants’ breaches have caused SHIP to suffer damages in an
amount as yet to be ascertained but substantially in excess of $100 million.

198. Under Pennsylvania law, Defendants at all material times stood in a
fiduciary relationship to SHIP regarding the handling of SHIP’s funds. Accordingly,
Defendants were obligated to perform their duties in good faith and in a manner that
was in the best interests of SHIP and SHIP’s policyholders, with such care as a
person of ordinary prudence would use under similar circumstances.

199. Moreover, in addition to the violations by Defendants Wegner, Lorentz,
and Staldine acting together as SHIP’s management, Defendant Wegner willfully
and intentionally breached his fiduciary duties, and failed to perform his duties in
good faith, in a manner that was in the best interests of SHIP and SHIP’s

policyholders, and with such care as a person of ordinary prudence would use under
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similar circumstances, by commission of the acts described herein, including but not
limited to, unlawfully misappropriating, diverting and/or converting funds from
SHIP for his own personal benefit and without benefit to SHIP or SHIP’s
policyholders.

200. Defendant Wegner engaged in self-dealing and improperly diverted
SHIP’s funds through an investment in his family-owned company, without any
benefit to SHIP or SHIP’s policyholders.

201. As adirect and proximate result of Defendant Wegner’s breach of his
fiduciary duties, SHIP has suffered actual injuries in an amount to be proven at trial.

202. Defendant Wegner’s failure to act solely for SHIP’s benefit was a real
factor in bringing about Plaintiff’s injuries.

203. Defendant Wegner is personally liable for the monetary damages
suffered by SHIP attributable to his willful misconduct and recklessness.

204. Defendants Lorentz and Staldine had an obligation to act with such care
as a person of ordinary prudence would use under similar circumstances with respect
to Defendant Wegner’s conduct and, had they done so, they would have uncovered
and/or informed SHIP about that conduct.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that judgment be entered in his favor and

against Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, and Staldine, jointly and severally, in the
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amount of SHIP’s damages as a result of Defendants’ breaches, together with costs

and such other relief as the Court deems appropriate.

Count 2: Breach of Fiduciar%/ Duty
(As Against Defendant Pro |V|t|)

205. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs of this Amended
Complaint as if fully set forth here.

206. Protiviti owed to SHIP and SHIP’s policyholders a fiduciary duty
because it was in a superior or trusted position as set forth herein.

207. Protiviti breached that duty by failing to perform in accordance with its
statutory and professional standards. Specifically, Protiviti acted as SHIP’s auditor.
In its review of the Beechwood transaction, Protiviti failed to obtain adequate
information regarding Beechwood to enable Protiviti to assess the Beechwood
transaction qualitatively, and failed in its obligation to ensure that the necessary
individuals at SHIP were aware of the risk and potential, if not probable, harm
presented by the transactions.

208. As a direct and proximate result of Protiviti’s conduct, SHIP has
suffered damages in an amount as yet unascertained but substantially in excess of
$100 million.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that judgment be entered in his favor and
against Protiviti, in the amount of SHIP’s damages as a result of Protiviti’s breaches,

together with costs and such other relief as the Court deems appropriate.
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Count 3: Civil Conspiracy
(Against All Defendants)

209. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of
this Amended Complaint as if fully set forth here.

210. Upon information and belief, Defendants willfully, intentionally,
maliciously and/or with reckless disregard of the rights of SHIP, engaged in or
entered into a conspiracy against SHIP.

211. Defendants acted in concert with each other and with management of
SHIP, to:

a)  conceive of and enter into risky transactions and engage in self-
dealing;

b)  evade statutory supervision by their use of untruthful and/or
unreliable financial data;

c)  conceal internal control weaknesses and other wrongdoing;

d)  participate in the preparation of faulty and misleading financial
information that was provided to SHIP and PID regulators; and

e) provide information to SHIP and/or PID regulators which they
knew was not in accordance with applicable statutory and
professional standards.

212. Through the above-referenced acts, relationships and interest of all
Defendants, the Defendants have, at all times material hereto, conspired, combined
and agreed to establish, operate and carry on, and did establish, operate and carry on

a business to defraud SHIP and obtain money under false pretenses.
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213. Through their above actions, Defendants acted with a common purpose
to do an unlawful act or to do a lawful act by unlawful means or for an unlawful
purpose.

214. In achieving the objectives of the conspiracy, Defendants committed
various overt acts, including without limitation making false and fraudulent
representations, concealments and omissions described more particularly above, in
pursuance of the common purpose and design of the civil conspiracy.

215. Atall relevant times, Defendants acted with malice and/or reckless and
oppressive disregard of SHIP’s rights. Defendants were individually and collectively
motivated by their desire to promote their own personal, business and financial
interest to SHIP’s detriment.

216. At all relevant times, Defendants knew their actions were unlawful and
without justification when they were committed.

217. As a direct and proximate result of this scheme, SHIP has sustained
damages.

218. Defendants’ conduct was knowing, willful, malicious and/or reckless.

219. Defendants’ false representation, concealments, actions and admissions
were malicious, oppressive and/or fraudulent as defined by Pennsylvania law, so as

to entitle SHIP to punitive damages.
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment
in his favor and against Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, Staldine, and Protiviti, jointly
and severally, in the amount of SHIP’s damages as a result of Defendants’ conduct,

together with costs and such other relief as the Court deems appropriate.

_ Count 4: Negligence _ o
(As Against Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, Staldine and Protiviti)

220. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of
this Amended Complaint as if fully set forth here.

221. As President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director, Defendant
Wegner owed SHIP a duty to act with due care in carrying out his responsibilities,
including, but not limited to ultimate responsibility for SHIP’s day-to-day
operations, ensuring that SHIP was operated pursuant to a system of adequate
internal controls that addressed the critical operational risks that comprised its
business, and ensuring that its business was protected by appropriate risk
management and loss control practices, including establishment of and strict
adherence to investment guidelines and conservative reserving and management.

222. Defendant Wegner breached that standard of care by acting with
negligence, gross negligence, and with a reckless and/or knowing disregard for
SHIP’s financial well-being, taking actions that he knew, or absent his negligence,
gross negligence, and recklessness, he would and should have known, affirmatively

and directly placed SHIP on the path to financial harm and eventual destruction.
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223. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendant Wegner’s negligent,
grossly negligent, and/or reckless conduct, SHIP sustained substantial financial
damages in an amount as yet to be ascertained.

224. As Chief Financial Officer and Director, Defendant Lorentz owed SHIP
a duty to act with due care in carrying out his responsibilities including, but not
limited to, having day-to-day responsibility over SHIP, ensuring that adequate
internal controls over SHIP’s financial reporting existed, ensuring that appropriate
risk management and loss control practices were being utilized on behalf of SHIP,
ensuring that SHIP was adequately addressing critical operational risks that existed
In its business through, amongst other things, the implementation of conservative
financial reporting through proper reserving and actuarial methodologies, and
establishment of and strict adherence to appropriate investment guidelines.

225. Defendant Lorentz breached that standard of care by acting with
negligence and with a reckless and/or knowing disregard for SHIP’s financial well-
being, taking actions that he knew, or absent his negligence and recklessness, he
would and should have known, affirmatively and directly placed SHIP on the path
to financial harm and eventual destruction.

226. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendant Lorentz’s negligent
and/or reckless conduct, SHIP sustained substantial financial damages in an amount

as yet to be ascertained.
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227. As Vice President of Business Management, and later Chief Operations
Officer, and President and Chief Executive Officer, Defendant Staldine owed SHIP
a duty to act with due care in carrying out his responsibilities including, but not
limited to, ensuring that SHIP was protected by an adequate system of internal
controls that addressed the critical operational risks that existed in its business, and
ensuring that its business was protected by appropriate risk management and loss
control practices, including but not limited to conservative claims management.

228. Defendant Staldine breached that standard of care by acting with
negligence, gross negligence, and with a reckless and/or knowing disregard for
SHIP’s financial well-being, taking actions that he knew, or absent his negligence,
gross negligence, and recklessness, he would and should have known, affirmatively
and directly placed SHIP on the path to financial harm and eventual destruction.

229. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendant Staldine’s negligent,
grossly negligent, and/or reckless conduct, SHIP sustained substantial financial
damages in an amount as yet to be ascertained.

230. As an auditor, Protiviti owed SHIP a duty to act with due care,
diligence, and competence in carrying out its professional responsibilities—namely
ensuring that SHIP had adequate processes in place to obtain accurately audited

financial statements, ensuring that SHIP’s financial positions were properly
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supported, and conducting audits designed to detect weaknesses in SHIP’s internal
controls.

231. Protiviti breached that standard of care by acting with negligence, gross
negligence, and with a reckless and/or knowing disregard for SHIP’s financial well-
being, taking actions that it knew, or absent its negligence and recklessness, it would
and should have known, affirmatively and directly placed SHIP on the path to
financial harm and eventual destruction.

232. As a direct and proximate cause of Protiviti’s negligent, grossly
negligent, and/or reckless conduct, SHIP sustained substantial financial damages in
an amount as yet to be ascertained.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that judgment be entered in his
favor and against all Defendants, jointly and severally, in the amount of SHIP’s
damages as a result of Defendants’ conduct, together with costs and such other relief

as the Court deems appropriate.

Count 5: Breach of Contract
(As Against Protiviti)

233. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of
this Amended Complaint as if fully set forth here.

234. Protiviti entered into various contracts with SHIP by which it assumed
the role of internal auditor for SHIP. (See Exs. A-C.)

235. SHIP performed its obligations under the Protiviti contracts.
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236. Protiviti breached its obligations under its contracts with SHIP to audit
SHIP’s internal controls and processes, and otherwise provide sound financial
advice. Accordingly, SHIP suffered financial damages in an amount as yet to be
ascertained.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that judgment be entered in his
favor and against Defendant Protiviti in the amount of SHIP’s damages as a result
of Defendant’s conduct, together with costs and such other relief as the Court deems

appropriate.

Count 6: N?R/Iigent Misrepresentation
(As Against Wegner, Lorentz, Staldine)

237. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of
this Amended Complaint as if fully set forth here.

238. Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, and Staldine owed to SHIP, the PID, and
the Commissioner, on behalf of the policyholders and creditors of SHIP and the
public, the duty to exercise due care as officers and directors of SHIP.

239. In the course of acting as directors and officers of SHIP, Defendants
Wegner and Lorentz made several false representations regarding (a) the financial
condition of SHIP and (b) whether they could provide reasonable assurance that
SHIP’s financial statements were free of material misstatements and other
representations as set forth above, under circumstances where they knew or should

have known the falsity of these representations.
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240. In the course of acting as a director and officer of SHIP, Defendant
Staldine concealed internal control weaknesses and other wrongdoing; participated
in the preparation of faulty and misleading financial information that was provided
to SHIP and PID regulators; and provided information to SHIP and/or PID regulators
which he knew or should have known was not in accordance with applicable
statutory and professional standards.

241. These representations were made in the course of their duties as officers
and directors and were made for the guidance of SHIP, the PID, and the
Commissioner, on behalf of the policyholders and creditors of SHIP and the public.

242. SHIP, the PID, and the Commissioner, on behalf of the policyholders
and creditors of SHIP and the public, are among the limited group of persons for
whose benefit Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, and Staldine made representations.

243. These representations by Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, and Staldine
were false and were material to an understanding of the financial condition of SHIP.

244. Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, and Staldine made these representations
regarding the financial condition of SHIP with the intent and knowledge that they
would be relied upon by SHIP, the PID, and the Commissioner, on behalf of the
policyholders and creditors of SHIP and the public.

245. The misrepresentations made by Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, and

Staldine were a breach of their duties to exercise due care.
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246. SHIP, the PID, and the Commissioner, on behalf of the policyholders
and creditors of SHIP, and the public, reasonably relied on the misrepresentations of
Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, and Staldine, and were damaged thereby in an amount
to be determined.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that judgment be entered in his
favor and against Defendants Wegner, Lorentz, and Staldine in the amount of SHIP’s
damages as a result of Defendants’ conduct, together with costs and such other relief

as the Court deems appropriate.

IX. PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court enter judgment

in his favor and against the Defendants, and that the Court award the Plaintiff the

following relief:

(1) The entry of judgment in favor of the Plaintiff and

against the Defendants, dointly and severally, for an
amount in excess of $500 million;

(2) The entry of judgment in favor of the Plaintiff and
against the Defendants,gomtly and severally, finding
that they deepened SHIP’s insolvency and that
damages be assessed on that basis;

(3) Reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

(4) Such other and further relief as the Court deems just
and proper.

X. JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all issues triable by jury.
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Dated: June 22, 2022

COZEN O’CONNOR

/s/ Michael J. Broadbent

Michael J. Broadbent, PA ID 309798
Dexter R. Hamilton, PA ID 50225
Eric D. Freed, PA ID 39252
Matthew J. Siegel, PA ID 82406
1650 Market Street, Suite 2800
Philadelphia, PA 19103

(215) 665-2000

TUCKER LAW GROUP

Leslie Miller Greenspan, PA ID 91639
Ten Penn Center

1801 Market Street, Suite 2500
Philadelphia, PA 19103

(215) 875-0609

Counsel for Michael Humphreys, Acting
Insurance Commissioner of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, as
Statutory Rehabilitator of Senior Health
Insurance Company of Pennsylvania
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VERIFICATION

I, Patrick H. Cantilo, am the Special Deputy Rehabilitator (“SDR”) for Senior
Health Insurance Company of Pennsylvania in rehabilitation (“SHIP”). I am
authorized to make this Verification on behalf of Plaintiff Michael Humphreys,
Acting Insurance Commissioner of Pennsylvania, in his official capacity as
Statutory Rehabilitator of SHIP. I hereby verify that the facts set forth in the
Amended Complaint are true and correct to the best of my knowledge,
information, and belief, SHIP’s documents, and information provided to me by
SHIP staff and advisors in my capacity as SDR.

I understand that I make this Verification subject to the penalties of 18 Pa.
Stat. § 4904 relating to unsworn falsifications to authorities.

ATl ot BT

Dated: June 22, 2022 Patrick Cantilo
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